





2020년 8월 박사 학위논문

Reduced mitophagy in the cochlea of aged C57BL/6J mice

조선대학교 대학원 의 학 과 오 정 현



Reduced mitophagy in the cochlea of aged C57BL/6J mice

노화성 난청 마우스에서 와우내

마이토파지의 변화

2020년 8월 28일

조선대학교 대학원 의학과

오 정 현



Reduced mitophagy in the cochclea of aged C57BL/6J mice

지도교수 : 조 성 일

이 논문을 의학박사 학위신청 논문으로 제출함.

2020년 5월

조선대학교 대학원

의학과

오 정 현



오정현의 박사학위논문을 인준함.

위욱	신장	가톨릭 대학교	교 수	전범조	인
위	원	고 려 대학교	교 수	최 준	인
위	원	조 선 대학교	교 수	조성일	인
위	원	조 선 대학교	교 수	최지윤	인
위	원	조 선 대학교	조교수	전용현	인

2020년 7월

조선대학교 대학원



Contents

List of Figures	ii
Abstract (English)	 111
Abstract (Korean)	V
1. Introduction	1
2. Materials and Methods	3
2.1. Mice and animal care	3
2.2. Auditory brainstem response measurement	3
2.3. Real-time PCR analysis	3
2.4. Western blot analysis	6
2.5. Immunostaining	7
2.6. Statistical analysis	8
3. Results	9
3.1. Assessment of ABR thresholds in C57BL/6J mice ····	9
3.2. Aging results in increased mitochondrial damage and	
decreased mitochondrial biogenesis on the cochlea of	
C57BL/6J mice ·····	9
3.3. Aging results in decreased levels of mitophagy-related	
genes and proteins in the cochlea of C57BL/6J mice	
	9
3.4. Aging results in decreased levels of mitophagolysosomes and	
mitophagy-related proteins in the organ of Corti and spiral	
ganglions of C57BL/6J mice ·····	10
4. Discussion ·····	12
5. Conclusion ·····	15
6. References	16



List of Figures

Figure 1.	The hearing thresholds of 1- and 12-month-old mice	24
Figure 2.	The changes in mitochondrial DNA copy number, the level of mitochondrial DNA damage, mitochondrial biogenesis, and the expression of mitophagy-related genes and proteins in the aged cochlea.	25
Figure 3.	Reduced mitophagy in the aged organ of Corti and spiral ganglion	27
Figure 4.	Decrease in Parkin and BNIP3 in the aged cochlea	29



ABSTRACT

Reduced mitophagy in the cochlea of aged C57BL/6J mice

Jeonghyun Oh

Advisor : Sung Il Cho, MD, Ph.D. Department of Medicine, Graduate School of Chosun University

An increase in mitochondrial damage has been associated with a decline in the ability to mitigate damage through mitophagy in age-related pathologies. The present study aimed to investigate the changes in mitophagy in a mouse model with age-related hearing loss. C57BL/6J mice were divided into two groups: young (1 month) and aged (12 months). Hearing tests were conducted by measuring auditory brainstem response (ABR). Mitochondrial DNA copy number, the level of mitochondrial DNA damage, mitochondrial biogenesis, and mitophagy-related genes and proteins were investigated using real-time PCR and western blot analyses. Mitophagosome and lysosome coexpression in the cochlea was investigated through immunofluorescence imaging analysis. Major players of mitophagy, Parkin and BNIP3, were also investigated through immunohistochemical staining in the cochlea. Hearing thresholds were observed to have increased in the aged group. The mitochondrial DNA copy number, PGC-1a, and PGC-1 β significantly decreased in the cochlea of mice in the aged group. mRNA levels of PINK1, Parkin, MUL1, Atg5, Atg12, Atg13, NIX, and BNIP3 significantly decreased in the cochlea of the mice in the aged group. The level of mitochondrial DNA damage significantly increased in the cochlea of mice in the aged group. Protein levels of PINK1, Parkin, BNIP3, COX4, LC3B, and all OXPHOS subunits significantly decreased in the cochlea of the mice in the aged group. Immunofluorescence imaging



analysis of mitophagosomes and lysosomes revealed decreased colocalization in the cochlea of mice in the aged group. Immunohistochemical imaging analysis of *Parkin* and *BNIP3* revealed their decreased expression in aged cochlea. Our results indicate that reduced mitophagy with aging might be attributed to the cellular changes that occur in aged cochlea in the development of age-related hearing loss.

Keywords: Mitochondria; Cochlea; Age-related hearing loss; Mitophagy.



국문초록

노화성 난청 마우스에서 와우내 마이토파지의 변화

오 정 현 지도 교수 : 조 성 일 조선대학교 대학원 의학과

미토콘드리아 손상의 증가는 노화 병리에 있어 마이토파지를 통해 손상을 완화시키는 능력의 감소와 관련이 있다. 본 연구는 노화성 난청의 마우스 모 델에서 마이토파지의 변화를 조사하는 것을 목표로 하였다. C57BL/6J 마우스 를 젊은 연령(1 개월) 및 고령(12 개월)의 두 그룹으로 나누었다. 청력검사는 청성뇌간반응(ABR)을 통해 시행하였다. 미토콘드리아 DNA 복제 횟수, 미토 콘드리아 DNA 손상 수준, 미토콘드리아 생성, 마이토파지 관련 유전자 및 단 백질을 실시간 PCR 및 웨스턴 블롯 분석을 통해 확인하였다. 와우에서 마이 토파고솜과 리소좀의 공동발현과 마이토파지의 주요 관련 인자인 Parkin과 BNIP3는 면역조직 화학염색을 통해 확인하였다. 청력 역치는 고령군에서 높 은 것으로 나타났으며 와우에서 미토콘드리아 DNA 복제 횟수, PGC-1a 및 PGC-16는 젊은 연령군에 비해 유의하게 감소하였다. PINK1, Parkin, MUL1, Atg5, Atg12, Atg13, NIX 및 BNIP3의 mRNA 발현량은 고령군의 와우에서 유의 하게 감소하였으며 미토콘드리아 DNA 손상의 정도는 고령군에서 유의하게 증가함을 확인하였다. PINK1, Parkin, BNIP3, COX4, LC3B 및 모든 OXPHOS 서브 유닛의 단백질 수준은 고령군에서 현저하게 감소하였다. 마이토파고솜 와 리소좀의 공동발현은 면역형광 검사상 고령군의 와우에서 감소함을 보였 고 Parkin 및 BNIP3의 발현은 면역조직화학 염색상 고령군에서 감소하였다. 결과적으로 노화에 따른 마이토파지의 감소는 노화성 난청 발생시 노화된 와우에서 발생하는 세포적 변화에 기인함을 보여준다.



핵심어: 미토콘드리아; 와우; 노화성 난청; 마이토파지



1. Introduction

Among the elderly, age-related hearing loss is common. Aging is widely associated with the process of oxidative damage caused by reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Beckman et al., 1998). This results in mitochondrial dysfunction and contributes to cochlear cell degeneration and hearing loss (Cheng et al., 2005; Someya et al., 2010). Age-related degeneration in the cochlea is most frequently associated with damage to the organ of Corti and spiral ganglion neurons, which have sensory hair cells and sensory neurons (Gates et al., 2005). Mitochondria play an important role in redox homeostasis and supplying energy in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP). The accumulation of defective mitochondria and the declining function of mitochondria result in the decline of cellular function during the aging process (Linnane et al., 1989). Autophagy involves the degradation of damaged and dysfunctional cellular components through the formation of the autophagolysosome (Mejías-Peña et al., 2017). Appropriate induction of autophagy is required to extend lifespan and maintain metabolic balance in stressful environments; however, there is a reduced occurrence of autophagy in dysfunctional aged tissues and organs (Cuervo et al., 2014). The beneficial roles of autophagy in the inner ear have been reported, and the studies have noted that upregulation of autophagy contributes to alleviating damage to the inner ear and hearing loss (Ye et al., 2019). Autophagy including mitophagy protects the hair cells by suppressing ROS accumulation and apoptosis (He et al., 2017). The induction of mitophagy in the auditory cell line minimized cytotoxicity after carbonyl cyanide m-chlorophenyl hydrazone (CCCP) exposure (Setz et al., 2018). Additionally, basal autophagy is important in the maintenance of hair cells and hearing acuity (Fujimoto et al., 2017). Selective autophagy can be classified depending on its selective organelle. Mitophagy is a form of mitochondrial autophagy, and it is important in regulating the turnover of damaged mitochondria and maintenance of healthy mitochondria (Fivenson et al., 2017). Reductions in the turnover of damaged



mitochondria via mitophagy are associated with various age-related pathologies (Palikaras et al., 2015). Compromised mitophagy may be a cause of cell degeneration due to mitochondrial dysfunction in age-related hearing loss. The present study aimed to investigate the changes in mitophagy in age-related hearing loss using a mouse model.



2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Mice and animal care

C57BL/6J mice, a mouse model of age-related hearing loss, were provided by the Animal Facility of Aging Science, KBSI Gwangju Center (Gwangju, South Korea). The animals were maintained and approved by the Chosun University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (approval no. CIACUC2016-A0035). All experiments were performed in strict accordance with the relevant guidelines and regulations approved by the committee. The mice were randomly divided into two groups (n = 5, 2 males and 3 females per group): young (1 month) and aged (12 months). Following hearing tests, mice were euthanized with cervical dislocation under 5% isoflurane anesthesia, and then their cochleae were removed.

2.2. Auditory brainstem response measurement

Hearing tests were conducted in a soundproof chamber. Before testing, mice (n = 5 per group) were anesthetized by intraperitoneal injection of ketamine (50 mg/mL, Yuhan, Seoul, Korea) and xylazine (23.32 mg/mL, Bayer Korea, Seoul, Korea) at a dose of 0.1 mL/20 g body weight. Body temperature was maintained at 37-38 °C by placing the anesthetized mice on a heating pad and monitoring with a rectal probe throughout the recording. The auditory brainstem response (ABR) was recorded from the scalp of the mice using the computerized Intelligent Hearing System (IHS, FL, USA) with the Smart-EP software. Waveforms from 256 stimuli (rate: 21.1/s) were examined and averaged using frequency-specific tone-burst stimuli (8, 16, and 32 kHz). ABR waveforms were recorded from 10 to 80 dB sound pressure level (SPL) intervals down from the maximum amplitude. The threshold was defined as the lowest stimulus level at which response peaks for waves were visible in the evoked trace.

2.3. Real-time PCR analysis

The cochleae were carefully removed from the anesthetized mice (n = 5 per



group). For the estimation of mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) copies in mouse cochlea, genomic DNA was isolated from cochlea with the Accuprep Genomic DNA extraction Kit (Bioneer, Daejeon, Korea). Total DNA (40 ng) was used for PCR. The control region of mouse mtDNA was amplified using the primer pair D1 (5' -CCCAAGCATATAAGCTAGTAC-3') and D2 (5'-ATATAAGTCATATTTTGGGAACTAC-3') (Fuke et al., 2011). For the determination of the amount of nuclear DNA, the apoB gene was used as a reference: forward, 5'-CGTGGGCTCCAGCATTCTA-3' and reverse, 5'-TCACCAGTCATTTCTGCCTTTG-3' (Fuke et al., 2011). The thermal cycling protocol used was 45 cycles of 95 °C for 5 s and 60 °C for 34 s after an initial denaturation step at 95 °C for 30 s. PCR was performed with SYBR *Premix Ex Taq*TMII (Tli RNaseH Plus) (TaKaRa Bio, Shiga, Japan).

For the analysis of mtDNA damage, total DNA (20 ng) was used for PCR. A long fragment of mtDNA (10.1 kb, *Mus musculus*) was amplified using the primer 5'-GCCAGCCTGACCCATAGCCATAATAT-3' and 5'-GAGAGATTTTATGGGTGTAATGCGG-3'. A short fragment of mtDNA (117 bp, *Mus musculus*) was amplified with the primers 5'-CCCAGCTACTACCATCATTCAAGT-3' and 5'-GATGGTTTGGGAGATTGGTTGATGT-3' (Santos et al., 2006). The conditions for long-fragment amplification were 95 °C for 15 s and 60 °C for 720 s for 45 cycles after an initial denaturation at 95 °C for 30 s. The conditions for short-fragment amplification were 95 °C for 15 s and 60 °C for 90 s for 45 cycles after an initial denaturation at 95 °C for 30 s. PCR was performed with SYBR *Premix Ex Taq*TMII. The short fragment of mtDNA was used as the reference gene.

For the analysis of mitochondrial biogenesis, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha (*PGC-1a*) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-beta (*PGC-1β*) expression levels in mouse cochleae were evaluated. Primers used for real-time PCR were as follows: *PGC-1a* forward, 5'-AGTTTTTGGTGAAATTGAGGAAT-3'; reverse, 5'-TCATACTTGCTCTTGGTGGAAGC-3' (Meirhaeghe et al., 2003), *PGC-1β* forward, 5'-TGCGGAGACACAGATGAAGA-3'; reverse, 5'-GGCTTGTATGGAGGTGTGGT-



3' (Gali Ramamoorthy et al., 2015), and housekeeping internal control gene, *GAPDH* forward, 5-GTATTGGGCGCCTGGTCACC-3'; reverse, 5'-CGCTCCTGGAAGATGGTGATGG-3'(Jang et al., 2013). *GAPDH* was used as the reference gene.

To confirm the mRNA expression levels of mitophagy-related genes, total RNA was purified from the cochlea with Hybrid-RTM (GeneAll, Seoul, Korea) according to the manufacturer's protocol. cDNA was synthesized using 1 µg of RNA with the M-MLV cDNA Synthesis Kit (Enzynomics, Daejeon, Korea). Real-time PCR analysis was performed using the SYBR Premix Ex Taq kit (TaKaRa Bio, Shiga, Japan). Primers used for real-time PCR were as follows: phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN)-induced putative kinase 1 (PINK1) forward, 5'-GCTTGCCAATCCCTTCTATG-3'; reverse, 5'-CTCTCGCTGGAGCAGTGAC-3' (Zhou et al., 2007), Parkin forward, 5'-AAACCGGATGAGTGGGTGAGT-3'; reverse, 5' -AGCTACCGACGTGTCCTTGT-3'(Bouman et al., 2011), activating molecule in Beclin1-regulated autophagy (AMBRA1) forward 5-CTACTGGGACCAGCTAAGTGAAA-3'; reverse, 5'-ACGTGGCTCTGCTGGTTC-3' (Cianfanelli et al., 2015), mitochondria lubiquitin ligase 1 (MUL1) forward, 5'-GTCATCGAAGGAGCTGTGC-3'; reverse, 5' -GTAGTTCCGGTTCCACACCATC-3' (Yun et al., 2014), nip3-like protein X (NIX) forward, 5' -GCAGGGACTAGCTCTCAG-3'; reverse, 5'-TGCTCAGTCGCTTTCCAATA-3' (Lu et al., 2012), Bcl2/adenovirus E1B 19 kDa-interacting protein 3 (BNIP3) forward, 5' -GCTCCCAGACACCACAAGAT-3'; reverse, 5'-TGAGAGTAGCTGTGCGCTTC-3', Bcl2/adenovirus E1B 19 kDa-interacting protein 3-like (BNIP3L) forward, 5' -CCTCGTCTTCCATCCACAAT-3'; reverse, 5'-GTCCCTGCTGGTATGCATCT-3 (Ha et al., 2007), autophagy-related protein 3 (Atg3) forward, 5-CCATTGAAAACCATCCTCATCTC-3' ; reverse, 5'-GCCTTCTGCAACTGTCTCAATAATT-3', autophagy-related protein 5 (Atg5) forward, 5'-GGACAGCTGCACACACTTGG-3'; reverse, 5' -TGGCTCTATCCCGTGAATCAT-3', autophagy-related protein 7 (Atg7) forward, 5' -GGCCTTTGAGGAATTTTTTGG-3'; reverse, 5'-ACGTCTCTAGCTCCCTGCATG-3', autophagy-related protein 12 (Atg12) forward, 5'-TGAATCAGTCCTTTGCCCCT-3'; reverse, 5'-CATGCCTGGGATTTGCAGT-3' (Kang et al., 2012), and



autophagy-related protein 13 (Atg13) forward, 5'-TGGCGGAAGATTTGGACTCC-3'; reverse, 5'-GGGTTTCCACAAAGGCATCG-3' (Zhang et al., 2017). *GAPDH* was used as the reference gene.

The fold change in gene expression was calculated by the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. Cts for the gene of interest (GOI) in both the young group (1 month) and the aged group (12 months) samples were adjusted in relation to anormalizer (reference gene) Ct from the same two samples. Relative mtDNA copies, mtDNA damage, *PGC-1a* and *PGC-1β*, and mitophagy-related gene expression of the aged group were calculated by comparing to basal activity of the young group to obtain relative fold expression.

2.4. Western blot analysis

The cochleae were carefully removed from the anesthetized mice (n = 3 per)group) and homogenized by a homogenizer (Omni international, GA, USA) in 300 µL lysis buffer (20 mM HEPES pH 7.4; 2 mM EGTA; 50 mM glycerol phosphate; 1 % Triton X-100; 10 % glycerol; 1 mM dithiothreitol; 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride; 10 µg/ml leupeptin; 10 µg/ml aprotinin; 1 mM Na3VO4; and 5 mM NaF). The homogenized samples were sonicated by a sonicater (Sonics & Materials Inc., CT, USA) two times for 10 s each and centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 15 min to gain the soluble extract proteins. The extracts were separated by 10-12 % SDS-PAGE and transferred to PVDF membranes (Millipore Corp, MA, USA). The membranes were blocked in TBS-T (20 mM Tris-HCl, 137 mM NaCl, pH 7.5, and 0.1 % Tween-20) with 5 % skim milk at room temperature for 1 h. After washing with TBS-T, the membranes were incubated with primary antibodies overnight at 4 °C and then washed with TBS-T. The primary antibodies used were PINK1 (1:1000, ThermoFisher Scientific, MA, USA), Parkin (1:1000, ThermoFisher Scientific), BNIP3 (1:1000, ThermoFisher Scientific), cytochrome c oxidase subunit 4 (COX4) (1:1000, Cell signaling Technology, MA, USA), LC3B (1:1000, Cell signaling Technology),



oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) Rodent WB Antibody Cocktail (6 μ g/mL, Thermo Fisher Scientific), and β -actin (1:4000, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, CA, USA). The membranes were washed three times with TBS-T for 10 min and then incubated with secondary antibodies for 2 h. The secondary antibodies used were anti-mouse in sheep (1:4000, Jackson ImmunoResearch, PA, USA) and anti-rabbit in donkey (1:4000, Jackson ImmunoResearch). The protein bands were visualized using a western blot detection system (MILLIPORE, MA, USA) and developed by an image analyzer (LAS-3000 imaging system, Fujifilm, Tokyo, Japan).

2.5. Immunostaining

The cochleae were carefully removed from the anesthetized mice (n = 5 per group), fixed in 4 % formaldehyde 37 % solution (VWR International Co., PA, USA) overnight at 4 °C, and decalcified for 7 days in 0.12 M EDTA (Sigma, MO, USA) in PBS. The decalcified cochleae were then embedded in paraffin wax and sliced into 4- μ m-thick serial paramodiolar sections. The sections were mounted on glass slides, and representative sections were used for experiments. The sections of two groups (1 month, 12 months) were labelled simultaneously with the same solutions.

For immunofluorescence, after blocking in 0.5% BSA solution, the slides were incubated with primary antibodies against translocase of the outer membrane 20 (TOM20) (1:200; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, CA, USA), LC3B (1:200; Cell Signaling Technology, MA, USA), and lysosomal-associated membrane protein 1 (LAMP1) (1:200, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) overnight at 4 °C. Then, the slides were incubated with the FITC-conjugated secondary antibodies: chicken anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 488 and chicken anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 594 (1:200, Invitrogen, CA, USA), and nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (GBI Labs, WA, USA). Immunofluorescence was detected by confocal microscopy (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) with Zeiss microscope image software ZEN (Carl



Zeiss). The colocalization coefficients were quantified using ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA).

For immunohistochemistry, six sections for each animal were deparaffinized, rehydrated, and then rinsed three times in 0.1 M PBS. After incubation in 0.01 M sodium citrate buffer for the microwave antigen retrieval step, the slides were treated with 0.3 % hydrogen peroxide for 20 min to block endogenous peroxidase activity and then rinsed with PBS. They were then blocked with normal horse serum in 0.5 % BSA solution for 30 min at room temperature and incubated with primary antibodies against Parkin and BNIP3 (1:100, ThermoFisher Scientific, MA, USA) overnight at 4 °C. The next day, the sections were rinsed with PBS and incubated with biotinylated anti-rabbit IgG. The immunoreactivity of cells in the sections was visualized using an avidin-biotin-peroxidase kit (Vector Laboratories, CA, USA). The chromogen used was 3, 3'-diamino-benzidine. Counterstaining was performed using thionin for 30 s. The sections were mounted with Polymount mounting medium (Polysciences, IL, USA). Parkin and BNIP3 immunoreactivities were determined by scoring for staining intensity (1, none; 2, weak; 3, moderate; 4, strong) and percent positive cells (1, <5%; 2, 6-25%; 3, 26-50%; 4, 51-75%; 5, >76%), and then expressed as the product of both scores.

2.6. Statistical analysis

The results were statistically analyzed using SPSS 24.0 software (SPSS Inc., IL, USA). The Mann-Whitney U test was used to analyze the data. A p value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.



3. Results

3.1. Assessment of ABR thresholds in C57BL/6J mice

C57BL/6J mice are an animal model for age-related hearing loss. To confirm hearing loss in the aged group, hearing thresholds were evaluated by measuring ABR. The hearing thresholds of 8, 16, and 32 kHz in the young group (1 month) were 34 ± 2.5 dB SPL, 22 ± 2.0 dB SPL, and 26 ± 2.5 dB SPL, respectively. The hearing thresholds in the aged group (12 months) significantly increased to 64 ± 2.5 dB SPL, 62 ± 2.0 dB SPL, and 68 ± 5.8 dB SPL, respectively (n = 5, p < 0.01, Fig. 1).

3.2. Aging results in increased mitochondrial damage and decreased mitochondrial biogenesis in the cochlea of C57BL/6J mice

To examine the change in mitochondria in the aged group, the mitochondrial DNA copy number and the level of mitochondrial DNA damage were investigated relative to those in the young group. The mitochondrial DNA copy number in the cochlea of the aged group significantly decreased to 0.51 ± 0.01 (n = 5, p < 0.05, Fig. 2A). The level of mitochondrial DNA damage in the cochlea of the aged group significantly increased to 1.53 ± 0.08 (n = 5, p < 0.01, Fig. 2B). *PGC-1a* and *PGC-1β* mRNA expression levels in the aged group were also investigated relative to those in the young group to evaluate mitochondrial biogenesis. Relative mRNA ratios of *PGC-1a* and *PGC-1β* in the cochleae of the aged group significantly decreased to 0.58 ± 0.12 and 0.15 ± 0.03 , respectively (n = 5, p < 0.05, Fig. 2C). These results indicated that mitochondrial damage increased and mitochondrial biogenesis decreased in aged cochlea.

3.3. Aging results in decreased levels of mitophagy-related genes and proteins in the cochlea of C57BL/6J mice

To examine the change in mitophagy in the aged cochlea, representative genes associated with mitophagy pathways were investigated relative to those in the



young group. The mRNA levels of PINK1, Parkin, MUL1, Atg5, Atg12, Atg13, NIX, and BNIP3 significantly decreased to 0.54 ± 0.13 , 0.43 ± 0.12 , 0.54 ± 0.06 , $0.6 \pm$ $0.03, 0.74 \pm 0.08, 0.43 \pm 0.05, 0.6 \pm 0.04$, and 0.34 ± 0.03 , respectively, in the cochleae of the aged group (n = 5, p < 0.05, Fig. 2D). The mRNA levels of AMBRA1, Atg3, Atg7, and BNIP3L showed as slight, but not significant, decrease in the cochleae of the aged group. Representative proteins associated with mitophagy pathways were investigated in the young group. A mitochondrial marker, COX4, and a reliable marker of autophagy, LC3B, were also investigated in the young group. The protein levels of PINK1, Parkin, BNIP3, COX4, and LC3B were significantly decreased in the cochleae of the aged group (n = 3, p < 10.05, Fig. 2E and F). The level of mitochondrial function was investigated using western blotting for the protein levels of the mitochondrial OXPHOS complex to examine the change in mitochondrial function in the aged cochlea. All OXPHOS subunits (complex I–V) significantly decreased in the cochleae of the aged group (n = 3, p < 0.05, Fig. 2E and G). These results indicated that the expression of mitophagy-related genes and proteins and mitochondrial function decreased in the aged cochlea.

3.4. Aging results in decreased levels of mitophagolysosomes and mitophagy-related proteins in the organ of Corti and spiral ganglions of C57BL/6J mice

To examine the change in mitophagosomes and mitophagolysosomes in the aged cochlea, immunofluorescence analysis was performed. Mitophagosomes were investigated by observing colocalization of a marker of autophagy, LC3B, with a major mitochondrial receptor, TOM20. Immunofluorescence analysis of LC3B and TOM20 showed that their coexpression was significantly decreased in the organ of Corti and spiral ganglion in 12-month-old mice compared to that in 1-month-old mice (n = 5, p < 0.01, Fig. 3A). The fusion process of mitophagosomes with lysosomes was investigated by observing colocalization of



a marker of lysosome, LAMP1, with TOM20. Immunofluorescence analysis of LAMP1 and TOM20 showed that their coexpression was significantly decreased in the organ of Corti and spiral ganglion in 12-month-old mice compared to that in 1-month-old mice (n = 5, p < 0.01, Fig. 3B).

To evaluate the major pathways of mitophagy, the expression levels of Parkin and BNIP3 were investigated through immunohistochemical staining. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) scores of Parkin in the organ of Corti and spiral ganglion (apical turn/basal turn) were $13.0 \pm 1.34/12.2 \pm 1.11$ and $8.6 \pm 1.29/11$ \pm 1.38, respectively, in the young group; however, the scores significantly decreased to $6.6 \pm 0.87/4.2 \pm 0.8$ and $5.2 \pm 0.49/1.2 \pm 0.49$, respectively, in the aged group. IHC scores of BNIP3 in the organ of Corti and spiral ganglion (apical turn/basal turn) were $15.4 \pm 2.18/13.8 \pm 1.91$ and $5.0 \pm 1.14/7.4 \pm 1.03$, respectively, in the young group; however, the scores significantly decreased to $11.0 \pm 1.67/7.8 \pm 1.36$ and $3.6 \pm 0.98/2.6 \pm 0.4$, respectively, in the aged group (n = 5, p < 0.05, Fig. 4). In the aged group, the IHC score of Parkin in the basal turn of the spiral ganglion showed a significant decrease compared to the score in the apical turn. The IHC scores of Parkin in the basal turn of the organ of Corti and BNIP3 in the basal turn of the cochlea showed a slight but not significant decrease compared to the scores in the apical turn. These results indicate that the expression of *Parkin* and *BNIP3* decreased in aged cochlea, as observed through immunostaining analysis.



4. Discussion

Mitochondria play a key role in maintaining the balance of cellular processes; however, aging affects mitochondrial homeostasis (Palikaras et al., 2012). mtDNA is sensitive to oxidative damage, which increases in the cochlea with aging. Mutations in mtDNA and mitochondrial dysfunction in the cochlea are associated with age-related hearing loss (Markaryan et al., 2008) as damaged mitochondria generate less ATP and produce more ROS, which can trigger cell death (Rugarli et al., 2012). The constant turnover of dysfunctional mitochondria is important for maintaining healthy mitochondria with aging. Mitophagy and mitochondrial biogenesis are two key processes in mitochondrial turnover, and increasing mitophagy and mitochondrial biogenesis can affect the turnover and activity of mitochondria (Chen et al., 2014).

Mitophagy, a type of selective autophagic process for mitochondria, is the key mechanism in the clearance of damaged mitochondria (Ding et al., 2012). Down-regulation of mitophagy with aging was shown in the present study. This hinders the elimination of damaged mitochondria and results in the accumulation of dysfunctional mitochondria. Inadequate clearance of damaged mitochondria results primarily from reduced mitophagy rather than the reduction in mitochondrial biogenesis upon aging because mitophagy plays an essential role in the clearance of functionally impaired mitochondria and the maintenance of a healthy mitochondrial population (Markaki et al., 2018).

In the present study, significant losses in mitochondrial biogenesis along with mitophagy in the cochlea with aging were revealed. *PGC-1a* and *PGC-1β* are key regulators in modulating the expression of genes involved in mitochondrial biogenesis (Scarpulla et al., 2011). Mitochondrial biogenesis coordinates the regulation between gene expression, transcription of mtDNA, and protein import (Carter et al., 2015). *PGC-1a* controls the mitochondrial genome copy number (Gouspillou et al., 2014). Decreased expression of *PGC-1a* and *PGC-1β* can result in overall loss of mtDNA.



The most widely studied pathways in mitophagy are the *PINK1/Parkin* (Pickrell et al., 2015) and *BNIP3/NIX* pathways (Ney, 2015). *PINK1* and Parkin-dependent mitophagy is activated by the decrease in mitochondrial membrane potential due to mitochondrial damage and leads to the degradation of mitochondria (Lazarou et al., 2015). *BNIP3* and *NIX* are involved in the regulation of mitophagy and induce the programmed clearance of dysfunctional mitochondria through direct binding with LC3 (Ney, 2015; Novak, 2012). *NIX* also induces mitophagy by decreasing mitochondrial membrane potential in a *PINK1/Parkin*-independent manner (Song et al., 2016). *MUL1* can cleave mitochondria in a *PINK1*-dependent manner (Rojansky et al., 2016). *AMBRA1* induces autophagy in a *Parkin*-independent manner via direct binding with LC3 (Strappazzon et al., 2015). The present study showed the down-regulation of these pathways in the cochlea of 12-month-old mice.

The general machinery for autophagy involves Atg proteins that form multi-molecule complexes and regulate autophagosome formation (Mizushima et al., 2011). *Atg13* is a member of the core complex for initiating autophagy (Mizushima, 2010). *Atg4*, *Atg7*, and *Atg3* convert LC3-I to LC3-II (Kabeya et al., 2000). The *Atg12-Atg5-Atg16* complex also facilitates LC3 lipidation (Hanada et al., 2007). *Atg7* also involves a delayed clearance of mitochondria (Zhang et al., 2009). Our results showed a general decrease in Atg mRNA levels in the cochlea of 12-month-old mice. TOM20 is the mitochondrial import receptor and is distributed throughout the whole cochlea (Balaker et al., 2013). In the present study, a decrease in LC3B, LAMP1, and TOM20 coexpression was shown in the aged cochlea, indicating a decrease in mitophagy.

Xiong et al. (2019) reported upregulation of mitophagy during aging, which is in contrast to the results of the present study. Animal mitophagy can be investigated using demonstration of colocalization analyses of autophagosomes and mitochondria (Klionsky et al., 2016). While Xiong et al. investigated the colocalization in an auditory cell line only, we investigated the colocalization in



the cochlea and identified the next step of mitophagy: the fusion process of mitophagosomes with lysosomes. Our results showed a decrease in the colocalization of autophagosomes and mitochondria and decrease in the fusion process of mitophagosomes with lysosomes in the aged cochlea.

To date, impaired mitochondrial homeostasis by reduced mitophagy has been reported in other age-related diseases, including Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, and Huntington's disease (Chen et al., 2009; Burté et al., 2015; Martinez-Vicente et al., 2010). Inducing mitophagy can effectively prevent the increase in ROS from damaged mitochondria and the accumulation of dysfunctional mitochondria, thus mitigating cell death during aging (Zhang et al., 2008; Ryu et al., 2016).

In conclusion, the present study revealed a decrease in mitophagy in aged cochlea, which can aggravate cellular damage and increase hearing loss. Reduced mitophagy with aging might be a major cause of cellular damage in aged cochlea, resulting in age-related hearing loss.



5. Conclusion

The maintenance of mitochondrial function and mitophagy is essential to the cells, because mitochondria are involved in both adaptive metabolism and survival in response to aging. Mitophagy decrease with age in the cochlear and auditory cortex of C57BL/6J mice. Although the studies analyzed do not exhibit a general consensus, it seems that aging impairs mitochondrial biogenesis and dynamics and decreases the mitophagic function of the organism in cochlear and auditory cortex. So, further research is necessary to determine the mechanisms of interaction between mitochondrial functions, aging, and hearing loss, as well as to analyze possible factors that are supposed to influence these processes.



References

- Balaker, A.E., Ishiyama, P., Lopez, I.A., Ishiyama, G., Ishiyama, A., 2013. Immunocytochemical localization of the translocase of the outer mitochondrial membrane (Tom20) in the human cochlea. Anat Rec (Hoboken). 296, 326-332. https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.22622.
- Beckman, K.B., Ames, B.N., 1998. The free radical theory of aging matures. Physiol Rev. 78, 547-581.
- Bouman, L., Schlierf, A., Lutz, A.K., Shan, J., Deinlein, A., Kast, J., Galehdar, Z., Palmisano, V., Patenge, N., Berg, D., Gasser, T., Augustin, R., Trümbach, D., Irrcher, I., Park, D.S., Wurst, W., Kilberg, M.S., Tatzelt, J., Winklhofer, K.F., 2011. Parkin is transcriptionally regulated by ATF4: evidence for an interconnection between mitochondrial stress and ER stress. Cell Death Differ. 18, 769-782. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2010.142.
- Burté, F., Carelli, V., Chinnery, P.F., Yu-Wai-Man, P., 2015. Disturbed mitochondrial dynamics and neurodegenerative disorders. Nat Rev Neurol. 11, 11-24. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2014.228.
- Carter, H.N., Chen, C.C., Hood, D.A., 2015. Mitochondria, muscle health, and exercise with advancing age. Physiology (Bethesda). 30, 208-223. https://doi.org/10.1152/physiol.00039.2014.
- Chen, H., Chan, D.C., 2009. Mitochondrial dynamics--fusion, fission, movement, and mitophagy--in neurodegenerative diseases. Hum Mol Genet. 18, r169-176. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddp326.
- Chen, H., Tang, J., 2014. The role of mitochondria in age-related hearing loss. Biogerontology. 15, 13-19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10522-013-9475-y.
- Cheng, A.G., Cunningham, L.L., Rubel, E.W., 2005. Mechanisms of hair cell death and protection. Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 13, 343–348.



- Cianfanelli, V., Fuoco, C., Lorente, M., Salazar, M., Quondamatteo, F., Gherardini, P.F., De Zio, D., Nazio, F., Antonioli, M., D'Orazio, M., Skobo, T., Bordi, M., Rohde, M., Dalla Valle, L., Helmer-Citterich, M., Gretzmeier, C., Dengjel, J., Fimia, G.M., Piacentini, M., Di Bartolomeo, S., Velasco, G., Cecconi, F., 2015. AMBRA1 links autophagy to cell proliferation and tumorigenesis by promoting c-Myc dephosphorylation and degradation. Nat Cell Biol. 17, 20-30. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3072.
- Cuervo, A.M., Macian, F., 2014. Autophagy and the immune function in aging. Curr Opin Immunol. 29, 97-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2014.05.006.
- Ding, W.X., Yin, X.M., 2012. Mitophagy: mechanisms, pathophysiological roles, and analysis. Biol Chem. 393, 547-564. https://doi.org/10.1515/hsz-2012-0119.
- Fivenson, E.M., Lautrup, S., Sun, N., Scheibye-Knudsen, M., Stevnsner, T., Nilsen, H., Bohr, V.A., Fang, E.F., 2017. Mitophagy in neurodegeneration and aging. Neurochem Int. 109, 202-209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2017.02.007.
- Fujimoto, C., Iwasaki, S., Urata, S., Morishita, H., Sakamaki, Y., Fujioka, M., Kondo, K., Mizushima, N., Yamasoba, T., 2017. Autophagy is essential for hearing in mice. Cell Death Dis. 8, e2780. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2017.194.
- Fuke, S., Kubota-Sakashita, M., Kasahara, T., Shigeyoshi, Y., Kato, T., 2011. Regional variation in mitochondrial DNA copy number in mouse brain. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1807, 270-274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2010.11.016.
- Gali Ramamoorthy, T., Laverny, G., Schlagowski, A.I., Zoll, J., Messaddeq, N., Bornert, J.M., Panza, S., Ferry, A., Geny, B., Metzger, D., 2015. The PGC-1β controls transcriptional coregulator mitochondrial function and anti-oxidant defence in skeletal muscles. Nat Commun. 6, 10210. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms10210.
- Gates, G.A., Mills, J.H., 2005. Presbycusis. Lancet. 366, 1111-1120.
- Gouspillou, G., Sgarioto, N., Norris, B., Barbat-Artigas, S., Aubertin-Leheudre,



M., Morais, J.A., Burelle, Y., Taivassalo, T., Hepple, R.T., 2014. The relationship between muscle fiber type-specific PGC-1 α content and mitochondrial content varies between rodent models and humans. PLoS One. 9, e103044. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0103044.

- Ha, S.D., Ng, D., Lamothe, J., Valvano, M.A., Han, J., Kim, S.O., 2007. Mitochondrial proteins Bnip3 and Bnip3L are involved in anthrax lethal toxin-induced macrophage cell death. J Biol Chem. 282, 26275-26283. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M703668200.
- Hanada, T., Noda, N.N., Satomi, Y., Ichimura, Y., Fujioka, Y., Takao, T., Inagaki, F., Ohsumi, Y., 2007. The Atg12-Atg5 conjugate has a novel E3-like activity for protein lipidation in autophagy. J Biol Chem. 282, 37298-37302.
- He, Z., Guo, L., Shu, Y., Fang, Q., Zhou, H., Liu, Y., Liu, D., Lu, L., Zhang, X., Ding, X., Liu, D., Tang, M., Kong, W., Sha, S., Li, H., Gao, X., Chai, R., 2017. Autophagy protects auditory hair cells against neomycin-induced damage. Autophagy. 13, 1884-1904. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2017.1359449.
- Jang, M.H., Bonaguidi, M.A., Kitabatake, Y., Sun, J., Song, J., Kang, E., Jun, H., Zhong, C., Su, Y., Guo, J.U., Wang, M.X., Sailor, K.A., Kim, J.Y., Gao, Y., Christian, K.M., Ming, G.L., Song, H., 2013. Secreted frizzled-related protein 3 regulates activity-dependent adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Cell Stem Cell. 12, 215-223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2012.11.021.
- Kabeya, Y., Mizushima, N., Ueno, T., Yamamoto, A., Kirisako, T., Noda, T., Kominami, E., Ohsumi, Y., Yoshimori, T., 2000. LC3, a mammalian homologue of yeast Apg8p, is localized in autophagosome membranes after processing. EMBO J. 19, 5720-5728.
- Kang, Y.A., Sanalkumar, R., O'Geen, H., Linnemann, A.K., Chang, C.J., Bouhassira, E.E., Farnham, P.J., Keles, S., Bresnick, E.H., 2012. Autophagy driven by a master regulator of hematopoiesis. Mol Cell Biol. 32, 226-239.



https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.06166-11.

- Klionsky, D.J., Abdelmohsen, K., Abe, A., Abedin, M.J., Abeliovich, H., Acevedo Arozena, A., et al., 2016. Guidelines for the use and interpretation of assays for monitoring autophagy (3rd edition). Autophagy. 12, 1-222. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2015.1100356.
- Lazarou, M., Sliter, D.A., Kane, L.A., Sarraf, S.A., Wang, C., Burman, J.L., Sideris, D.P., Fogel, A.I., Youle, R.J., 2015. The ubiquitin kinase PINK1 recruits autophagy receptors to induce mitophagy. Nature. 524, 309-314. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14893.
- Linnane, A.W., Marzuki, S., Ozawa, T., Tanaka, M., 1989. Mitochondrial DNA mutations as an important contributor to ageing and degenerative diseases. Lancet. 1, 642-645.
- Lu, Y., Wang, L., He, M., Huang, W., Li, H., Wang, Y., Kong, J., Qi, S., Ouyang, J., Qiu, X., 2012. Nix protein positively regulates NF-κB activation in gliomas. PLoS One. 7, e44559. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0044559.
- Markaki, M., Palikaras, K., Tavernarakis, N., 2018. Novel insights into the anti-aging role of mitophagy. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol. 340, 169-208. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ircmb.2018.05.005.
- Markaryan, A., Nelson, E.G., Tretiakova, M., Hinojosa, R., 2008. Technical report: laser microdissection of cochlear structures from celloidin embedded human temporal bone tissues and detection of the mitochondrial DNA common deletion using real time PCR. Hear Res. 244, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2008.07.007.
- Martinez-Vicente, M., Talloczy, Z., Wong, E., Tang, G., Koga, H., Kaushik, S., de Vries, R., Arias, E., Harris, S., Sulzer, D., Cuervo, A.M., 2010. Cargo recognition failure is responsible for inefficient autophagy in Huntington's disease. Nat Neurosci. 13, 567-576. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2528.



- Meirhaeghe, A., Crowley, V., Lenaghan, C., Lelliott, C., Green, K., Stewart, A., Hart, K., Schinner, S., Sethi, J.K., Yeo, G., Brand, M.D., Cortright, R.N., O'Rahilly, S., Montague, C., Vidal-Puig, A.J., 2003. Characterization of the human, mouse and rat PGC1 beta (peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptor-gamma co-activator 1 beta) gene in vitro and in vivo. Biochem J. 373, 155-165. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20030200.
- Mejías-Peña, Y., Estébanez, B., Rodriguez-Miguelez, P., Fernandez-Gonzalo, R., Almar, M., de Paz, J.A., González-Gallego, J., Cuevas, M.J., 2017. Impact of resistance training on the autophagy-inflammation-apoptosis crosstalk in elderly subjects. Aging (Albany NY). 9, 408-418. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.101167.
- Mizushima, N., 2010. The role of the Atg1/ULK1 complex in autophagy regulation. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 22, 132-139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2009.12.004.
- Mizushima, N., Komatsu, M., 2011. Autophagy: renovation of cells and tissues. Cell. 147, 728-741. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.10.026.
- Ney, P.A., 2015. Mitochondrial autophagy: Origins, significance, and role of BNIP3 and NIX. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1853, 2775-2783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.02.022.
- Novak, I., 2012. Mitophagy: a complex mechanism of mitochondrial removal. Antioxid Redox Signal. 17, 794-802. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2011.4407.
- Palikaras, K., Lionaki, E., Tavernarakis, N., 2015. Coordination of mitophagy and mitochondrial biogenesis during ageing in C. elegans. Nature. 521, 525-528. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14300.
- Palikaras, K., Tavernarakis, N., 2012. Mitophagy in neurodegeneration and aging. Front Genet. 3, 297. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2012.00297.
- Pickrell, A.M., Youle, R.J., 2015. The roles of PINK1, parkin, and mitochondrial fidelity in Parkinson's disease. Neuron. 85, 257-273. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.12.007.

Rojansky, R., Cha, M.Y., Chan, D.C., 2016. Elimination of paternal mitochondria



in mouse embryos occurs through autophagic degradation dependent on PARKIN and MUL1. Elife. 5, e17896. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.17896.

- Rugarli, E.I., Langer, T., 2012. Mitochondrial quality control: a matter of life and death for neurons. EMBO J. 31, 1336–1349. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2012.38.
- Ryu, D., Mouchiroud, L., Andreux, P.A., Katsyuba, E., Moullan, N., Nicolet-Dit-Félix, A.A., Williams, E.G., Jha, P., Lo Sasso, G., Huzard, D., Aebischer, P., Sandi, C., Rinsch, C., Auwerx, J., 2016. Urolithin A induces mitophagy and prolongs lifespan in C.elegans and increases muscle function in rodents. Nat Med. 22, 879-888. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4132.
- Santos, J.H., Meyer, J.N., Mandavilli, B.S., Van Houten, B., 2006. Quantitative PCR-based measurement of nuclear and mitochondrial DNA damage and repair in mammalian cells. Methods Mol Biol. 314, 183-199. https://doi.org/10.1385/1-59259-973-7:183.
- Scarpulla, R.C., 2011. Metabolic control of mitochondrial biogenesis through the PGC-1 family regulatory network. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1813, 1269–1278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2010.09.019.
- Setz, C., Benischke, A.S., Pinho Ferreira Bento, A.C., Brand, Y., Levano, S., Paech, F., Leitmeyer, K., Bodmer, D., 2018. Induction of mitophagy in the HEI-OC1 auditory cell line and activation of the Atg12/LC3 pathway in the organ of Corti. Hear Res. 361, 52-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2018.01.003.
- Someya, S., Prolla, T.A., 2010. Mitochondrial oxidative damage and apoptosis in age-related hearing loss. Mech Ageing Dev. 131, 480–486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mad.2010.04.006.
- Song, W.H., Yi, Y.J., Sutovsky, M., Meyers, S., Sutovsky, P., 2016. Autophagy and ubiquitin-proteasome system contribute to sperm mitophagy after mammalian fertilization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 113, e5261-5270. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1605844113.



- Strappazzon, F., Nazio, F., Corrado, M., Cianfanelli, V., Romagnoli, A., Fimia, G.M., Campello, S., Nardacci, R., Piacentini, M., Campanella, M., Cecconi, F., 2015. AMBRA1 is able to induce mitophagy via LC3 binding, regardless of PARKIN and p62/SQSTM1. Cell Death Differ. 22, 419-432. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2014.139.
- Xiong, H., Chen, S., Lai, L., Yang, H., Xu, Y., Pang, J., Su, Z., Lin, H., Zheng, Y., 2019. Modulation of miR-34a/SIRT1 signaling protects cochlear hair cells against oxidative stress and delays age-related hearing loss through coordinated regulation of mitophagy and mitochondrial biogenesis. Neurobiol Aging. 79, 30-42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2019.03.013.
- Ye, B., Fan, C., Shen, Y., Wang, Q., Hu, H., Xiang, M., 2019. The Antioxidative Role of Autophagy in Hearing Loss. Front Neurosci. 12, 1010. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.01010.
- Yun, J., Puri, R., Yang, H., Lizzio, M.A., Wu, C., Sheng, Z.H., Guo, M., 2014. MUL1 acts in parallel to the PINK1/parkin pathway in regulating mitofusin and compensates for loss of PINK1/parkin. Elife. 3, e01958. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.01958.
- Zhang, H., Bosch-Marce, M., Shimoda, L.A., Tan, Y.S., Baek, J.H., Wesley, J.B., Gonzalez, F.J., Semenza, G.L., 2008. Mitochondrial autophagy is an HIF-1-dependent adaptive metabolic response to hypoxia. J Biol Chem. 283, 10892-10903. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M800102200.
- Zhang, J., Randall, M.S., Loyd, M.R., Dorsey, F.C., Kundu, M., Cleveland, J.L., Ney, P.A., 2009. Mitochondrial clearance is regulated by Atg7-dependent and -independent mechanisms during reticulocyte maturation. Blood. 114, 157–164. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-04-151639.
- Zhang, J., Zhu, Y., Shi, Y., Han, Y., Liang, C., Feng, Z., Zheng, H., Eng, M., Wang, J., 2017. Fluoride-induced autophagy via the regulation of



phosphorylation of mammalian targets of rapamycin in mice Leydig cells. J Agric Food Chem. 65, 8966-8976. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.7b03822.

Zhou, H., Falkenburger, B.H., Schulz, J.B., Tieu, K., Xu, Z., Xia, X.G., 2007. Silencing of the Pink1 gene expression by conditional RNAi does not induce dopaminergic neuron death in mice. Int J Biol Sci. 3, 242-250. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.3.242.





Fig. 1. The hearing thresholds of 1- and 12-month-old mice. (A) Representative waveforms of ABR measurement using 16 kHz tone-burst stimuli. The lowest stimuli levels that produced response peaks in the young and the aged groups were 20 and 70 dB SPL, respectively. (B) The hearing thresholds of 8, 16, and 32 kHz in the aged group were significantly increased compared with those of the young group. The data are shown as the means \pm S.E.M. of five mice per group (1 m: 1 month, 12 m: 12 months; **p < 0.01).



Fig. 2. The changes in mitochondrial DNA copy number, the level of mitochondrial DNA damage, mitochondrial biogenesis, and the expression of mitophagy-related genes and proteins in the aged cochlea. (A) Relative mitochondrial DNA copy number in the cochleae of mice in the aged group was significantly decreased compared with that in the cochleae in the young group (n = 5 per group). (B) The level of relative mitochondrial DNA damage in the cochleae of mice in the aged group was significantly increased compared to that in the cochleae in the young group (n = 5 per group). (C) Relative mRNA ratios



of *PGC-1a* and *PGC-1β*, which are key regulators of mitochondrial biogenesis, in the cochleae of mice in the aged group significantly decreased compared with those of mice in the young group (n = 5 per group). (D) Relative mRNA levels of *PINK1*, *Parkin*, *MUL1*, *Atg5*, *Atg12*, *Atg13*, *NIX*, and *BNIP3* significantly decreased in the cochleae of mice in the aged group (n = 5 per group). (E) Western blot analysis of *PINK1*, *Parkin*, *BNIP3*, *COX4*, LC3B, and OXPHOS complex. (F,G) Relative protein levels of *PINK1*, *Parkin*, *BNIP3*, *COX4*, LC3B, and OXPHOS complex significantly decreased in the cochleae of mice in the aged group (n = 3 per group). The data are shown as the means \pm S.E.M. of three to five mice in each group (1 m: 1 month, 12 m: 12 months; **p* < 0.05, ***p* < 0.01).





Fig. 3. Reduced mitophagy in the aged organ of Corti and spiral ganglion. (A) Colocalization analysis of autophagosomes and mitochondria. Immunofluorescence of LC3B (green) and TOM20 (red) showed that their colocalization (yellow, the overlap color) was significantly decreased in the hair cell and spiral ganglion of 12-month-old mice compared with that in the hair cell and spiral ganglion of 1-month-old mice. (B) Colocalization analysis of lysosomes and mitophagosomes. Immunofluorescence of LAMP1 (green) and TOM20 (red) showed that their



colocalization (yellow, the overlap color) significantly decreased in the hair cell and spiral ganglion of 12-month-old mice compared with that in the hair cell and spiral ganglion of 1-month-old mice. The data are shown as the means \pm S.E.M of five mice in each group (1 m: 1 month, 12 m: 12 months; **p < 0.01).





Fig. 4. Decrease in *Parkin* and *BNIP3* in the aged cochlea. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) scores of *Parkin* and *BNIP3* in the organ of Corti and spiral ganglion of mice in the aged group significantly decreased in both the apical turn and the basal turn. IHC score of *Parkin* in the basal spiral ganglion of mice in the aged group significantly decreased compared with that in the apical spiral ganglion of mice in the aged group. The data are shown as the means \pm S.E.M. of five mice in each group (1 m :1 month, 12 m: 12 months; *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01).